

**Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation** 

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> Multifamily Initiative

# Early Conclusions from The Mixed-Income Demonstration Program:

Reaching extremely low-income families in mixed-income settings

# August 2002

A special \$5 million, mixed-income demonstration program was included in Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation's FY 2002 appropriation, to explore approaches for serving households with incomes less than 30 percent of the area median ("extremely low income" or "ELI" households) in mixed-income communities. This paper shares highlights of the 17 grant applications (14 of which have been selected for funding) plus key observations from the national symposium we hosted on this topic. Also included are working conclusions from our experience to date with the mixed-income demonstration program.



Early Conclusions from the Mixed-Income Demonstration Program *August 2002* 

© 2004 Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation 1325 G St. N.W. #800 Washington, DC 20005 202-220-2300 www.nw.org

Early Conclusions from the Mixed-Income Demonstration Program *August 2002* 

© 2004 Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation 1325 G St. N.W. #800 Washington, DC 20005 202-220-2300 www.nw.org

## **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	2
The Mixed-Income Demonstration Program	2
Highlights of the 17 Grant Applications	
Neighborhood Reinvestment's Working Conclusions on Mixed-Income Policy	3
Mixed-Income Subsidies Must Be Flexible	
Each 30% AMI Unit Requires Significant Subsidy	
Mixed-Income Rental Housing Needs a Dedicated Funding Source and	an
Appropriate Allocation System	5
There Are Many Approaches for Reaching People at or Below 30% AMI	5
Sustainability Is Vital	6
Additional Information Attached	
More Detailed Discussion of Working Conclusions	
Mixed-Income Subsidies Must Be Flexible	
Each 30% AMI Unit Requires Significant Subsidy	
Mixed Income Rental Housing Needs a Dedicated Funding Source and	an
Appropriate Allocation System	11
There Are Many Approaches for Reaching People at or Below 30% AMI	
Sustainability Is Vital	
Key Characteristics of Grant Applications	
Excerpt from Framing Paper for April 2002	
Approaches	
Approactics	10

## **Acknowledgment**

The principal author of *Early Conclusions from the Mixed-Income Demonstration Program* was Charles S. Wilkins Jr. of the Compass Group.

# **Executive Summary**

#### The Mixed-Income Demonstration Program

Every year, Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation makes grants to communitybased nonprofit NeighborWorks® organizations. For multifamily housing, Neighborhood Reinvestment's capital grant provides "gap" funding to make affordable multifamily development and preservation feasible. Many capital grants support properties that receive federal and state assistance such as Low Income Housing Tax Credits, Rural Housing Service subsidies, and Section 8 rental assistance, but that need additional grant funds in order to be viable. Recently, we recognized that, throughout the affordable-housing industry, there was a systemic failure to achieve "sustainable In response to this problem, beginning in FY 2000, Neighborhood Reinvestment launched an additional capital-grant program through its Multifamily Initiative to enable modest reductions in property debt loads, to enable larger reserve deposits, asset-management fees, non-housing service costs, and other improvements related to long-term sustainability.

For 2002, Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation used funds from a special mixedincome demonstration-program appropriation from Congress to offer mixed-income grants to enable properties to include units affordable to households at or below 30percent of area median income ("extremely low income" or "ELI" households).<sup>1</sup> Because ELI households can afford only very limited rents, traditional subsidies such as the Low Income Housing Tax Credit ordinarily cannot assist these households. Neighborhood Reinvestment designed the mixed-income grant program to allow the widest possible range of approaches. Requirements for eligibility included site control and commitments for all other needed funding. The maximum grant was the lesser of \$750,000, or \$40,000 per ELI unit. Applicants could propose any income mix that included at least 5 percent ELI units. No applicant proposed more than 50 percent ELI units.2

Neighborhood Reinvestment and Fannie Mae cosponsored a national symposium in April 2002 in Chicago to explore best-practice solutions for these types of mixedincome, affordable, rental housing developments. The results of the Chicago Symposium helped to inform the working conclusions presented in this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ELI households cannot be accurately described as "non-working" households. Many ELI households have significant employment income (67% of those in the 20% to 30% AMI range, and 28% of those in the 10% to 20% AMI range).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As noted below, the overall income range varied widely. All proposals offered a mix of incomes up to 50% to 60% of area median income (AMI). Some proposals offered income mixes that extended above 80% AMI.

#### **Highlights of the 17 Grant Applications**

Range of approaches. The applicants proposed a wide range of approaches for creating mixed-income communities, including:

- Rent Reduction. Some applicants proposed to use the grant funds to reduce debt, thereby allowing the property to charge lower rents.
- Mixing Up as Well as Down. One applicant converted some tax credit units to market rate, creating an income mix ranging from less than 30 percent of area median income (AMI) to more than 80 percent of AMI.
- "Split Subsidy."<sup>3</sup> Some applicants worked with their local public housing authorities to make units available to Section 8 voucher recipients. Some of these applicants proposed using their grant funds to reduce debt and rents (thereby reducing the cost of the Section 8 subsidy). Others proposed utilizing their grant funds to fund services and/or more intensive management, to support the mixed-income community.
- Rental and Homeownership. One applicant proposed to include homeownership units within the mixed-income rental community.
- Scattered Sites. Some applicants proposed creating or acquiring single-family homes in middle-income neighborhoods that would be rented to ELI households. One such applicant also proposed a lease-to-own program in which an ELI household could own the unit after 15 years.

The Applications Reflected Real Estate Diversity as Well. The applicants represent a full range of geographic areas, including urban, suburban and rural locations. The proposed developments varied from 14 to 420 units. Proposals included acquisition and modest rehab, acquisition and major rehab, as well as new construction.

#### **Neighborhood Reinvestment's Working Conclusions on Mixed-Income Policy**

#### 1. Mixed-Income Subsidies Must Be Flexible

Broad Guidelines, Not Formulas. Federal or state subsidies to facilitate mixed-income rental housing should combine broad policy guidelines with maximum flexibility for property-specific decisions. Variables that need to be tailored to the particular neighborhood and property context include:

- The size of the property,
- The intended resident profile,
- The overall range of incomes,
- The number of units targeted to each income range,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Approaches that mix tenant-based rental assistance with project-based subsidies (such as the Low Income Housing Tax Credit) are sometimes termed "split subsidy" approaches.

- The extent to which non-housing services and more intensive management will be needed, and
- The unit types (e.g., two-bedroom, two-bath townhouse) and building types (e.g., two-story walkup) that should be produced.

We have formed a working conclusion that "mixed-income neighborhoods trump mixed-income developments." When the objective is seen as creating an appropriate income mix within the broader neighborhood context, the need for flexibility is particularly evident.

Avoid Conflicting Requirements. Because mixed-income subsidies will almost always be combined with other subsidies and will generally not be the dominant form of subsidy, mixed-income subsidies should accept the compliance and monitoring provisions of the primary subsidy program(s). Similarly, mixed-income subsidies should avoid requirements that would conflict with commonly utilized subsidies such as the Low Income Housing Tax Credit, HOME, CDBG, Rural Housing Service programs, Section 8, and the FHLB AHP.

#### 2. Each 30 Percent AMI Unit Requires Significant Subsidy

Mixed-income subsidy programs will need to allocate significant amounts of subsidy per unit (but the subsidy would be applied only to a limited number of units per property).

The Maximum ELI Rent is \$387 Below the Maximum Tax Credit Rent. Using 2001 national average incomes, and assuming a 30 percent housing cost burden, a two-person household at 30 percent AMI needs a \$387 per unit per month reduction in rent, below the rent that would be affordable to an otherwise similar household at 60 percent AMI. 4

A Typical ELI Unit Requires \$50,000 per Unit Additional Subsidy. A \$387 per unit per month rent reduction corresponds to a reduction in supportable debt (below the level supportable with rents affordable at 60 percent AMI) of roughly \$50,000 per ELI unit. Of course, this additional subsidy would be needed only for the ELI units. For example, in a 50-unit property with 10 ELI units (20 percent), the additional subsidy needed would be \$500,000 (\$10,000 per total unit, \$50,000 per ELI unit).

However, the Grant Applicants Were Able to Work Within a \$40,000 per Unit Limit. By comparison to the \$50,000 per unit discussed above, the mixed-income demonstration program allowed a maximum grant of \$40,000 per unit. In general, the Neighborhood Reinvestment grant applicants were able to work within this limitation, because the properties — before adding the mixed-income grants — were already affordable to households with incomes somewhat below 60 percent AMI. Thus, in practice, the rent reduction needed to achieve affordability for ELI households was less than the illustrative \$387 discussed above. Other applicants were able to combine the grant with Section 8 rental assistance to achieve affordability for ELI households.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Detailed calculations are provided in the expanded discussion below.

These cost considerations point to our next working conclusion.

# 3. Mixed-Income Rental Housing Needs a Dedicated Funding Source and an Appropriate Allocation System

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation recognizes that subsidy allocators will (and should) want to produce the largest number of "affordable" units. However, the direct pursuit of that goal will result in few, if any, ELI units being created, because (as noted above) each ELI unit requires roughly twice as much subsidy as an otherwise similar unit affordable at 60 percent AMI.

In order to achieve more ELI units in mixed-income developments, two requirements are paramount:

- Additional funding, ideally targeted for producing these units and
- A funding allocation system that recognizes that an ELI unit has a public policy value that is commensurate with its higher subsidy cost.

These objectives could be realized by providing additional funding to the tax credit program and by modifying the federal guidelines for Qualified Allocation Plans. For example, a change in guidelines could result in the widespread use and acceptance of a productivity-measurement approach in which one ELI unit had the same weight as two units affordable at 60 percent AMI. However, it would be difficult to reconcile that approach with the need for flexibility outlined above or with the generally flexible and nonprescriptive nature of the LIHTC program.

An alternative approach is to create a mixed-income subsidy program external to the tax credit program. One approach, as recommended by the Millennial Housing Commission, is to provide additional funding for this purpose under the HOME program.

#### 4. There Are Many Approaches for Reaching People at or Below 30 Percent AMI

Any mixed-income program should allow for a wide range of techniques for achieving mixed-income communities.

The grant applications reflected a wide variety of mixed-income approaches. Many applications proposed a combination of approaches. Approaches included:

- Reduction in mortgage debt to allow rent reductions,
- Use of rental assistance (tenant based or project based) to provide additional affordability below 30 percent AMI,
- Addition of non-housing services, to support the viability of the mixed-income community,
- More intensive management, to support the viability of the mixed-income community, and
- Mixing homeownership with mixed-income rental.

#### 5. Sustainability Is Vital

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation uses the term "sustainability" to refer to our objective of structuring affordable rental housing so that it will be affordable, a positive force in the community, physically viable, and financially viable on a long-term basis, without needing injections of future federal subsidies. We were pleased to see the Millennial Housing Commission recommend that sustainability be elevated as a national policy goal and placed on an equal footing with the goal of affordability to taxpayers.

However, the grant applicants reported that key elements of sustainability were not acceptable to other programs that provided funds to the properties.

These results spring directly from a well-intentioned but short-sighted focus on producing the maximum number of units. This simply must be changed.

Accordingly, we believe that the sustainability message needs to be more widely communicated and incorporated into the day-to-day practices of all affordable housing professionals. There may also be a need to incorporate sustainability into the federal guidelines for programs such as LIHTC, HOME and CDBG.

#### **Additional Information Attached**

- More detailed discussion of each of the four working conclusions
- Highlights of the grant applications
- Excerpt from the Chicago Symposium "framing paper," which describes potential mixed-income approaches

# **More Detailed Discussion of Working Conclusions**

#### 1. Mixed-Income Subsidies Must Be Flexible

Perhaps the strongest conclusions from the Chicago symposium speak directly to this issue:

- The prime objective should be a mixed-income neighborhood, not just a mixed-income development. The "right mix" is a function of the existing mix within the neighborhood, the combined ability of the neighborhood and the proposed development to attract a wider mix of incomes, and the combined ability of the neighborhood and development to sustain a wider mix of incomes over time.
- The "right mix" may be narrow or wide, depending on neighborhood-specific and property-specific considerations. That is:
  - For some very-low-income neighborhoods and developments, only a relatively narrow mix of incomes will be feasible. In these settings, it is unrealistic to expect to reach much above 50 percent of area median income; yet, achieving a wide mix of incomes up to 50 percent of area median would be highly positive for the neighborhood.
  - o In other neighborhoods, it will be feasible and desirable to attract households with incomes well above 80 percent of area median.
  - In an otherwise high-income neighborhood, a property with a mix of incomes up to, say, 60 percent of area median could be an excellent strategy for achieving an appropriate income mix in the wider neighborhood.

The range of approaches proposed by the grant applicants provides additional confirmation that a mixed-income subsidy should be as flexible as possible:

Overall Range of Incomes Can Be Quite Wide. The following illustrate the relatively wide income mixes proposed in some of the grant applications:

	% of AMI				
Grant Applicant	Under	30% to	Above		
	30%	60%	60%		
Applicant #3	18%	62%	20%		
Applicant #7	13%	75%	13%		
Applicant #9	6%	43%	51%		

Mixed-Income Subsidies Must Permit Creative Approaches. For example:

• Applicant One proposes to develop single-family homes under LIHTC, with a 15 year lease-to-purchase program.

 Applicant 12 is an affordable-rental housing development in a planned community that will ultimately contain 300 affordable multifamily units and 635 single-family homeownership units (half affordable to households below 80 percent AMI).

Subsidies Should Permit Flexible Strategies to Create and Sustain Stable Mixed-Income Communities. Many of the grant applicants proposed more intensive property management and/or additional non-housing services. This confirms research<sup>5</sup> that found correlations between successful mixed-income communities and communities with very active, very high-quality property management. Said differently, although property management is important in all apartment properties, there is good evidence that property management is particularly important in mixed-income properties. Property management fees sufficient to attract and retain top quality management firms should be a part of any mixed-income initiative.

Anticipate and Avoid Conflicts Between Subsidies. Because mixed-income subsidies will almost always be combined with other subsidies, and will generally not be the dominant form of subsidy, they should avoid requirements that would conflict with commonly utilized subsidies such as the Low Income Housing Tax Credit, HOME, CDBG, Rural Housing Service programs, Section 8, and the FHLBB AHP. Examples of existing conflicts include:

- CDBG requires 51 percent low-income initial occupancy (at or below 80 percent AMI), but that may not be the "right mix" for a particular setting.
- Subsidy programs vary in their basic compliance requirements. These areas include: income eligibility, preferences and targeting, certification and recertification of incomes, length of use agreement, use agreement requirements and flexibility, and treatment of households whose income rises after admission.

Potential solutions include:

- *Hierarchy of Compliance*. One potential approach is to accept the compliance and monitoring provisions of the dominant subsidy. The Millennial Housing Commission refers to this as a "hierarchy of compliance" approach.
- Standard Waivers. Another potential approach is to provide that certain otherwise applicable requirements do not apply when the mixed-income subsidy is used in combination with specific subsidy programs.

#### 2. Each 30 Percent AMI Unit Requires Significant Subsidy

Mixed-income subsidy programs will need to allocate sufficient amounts of subsidy per ELI unit, but these will comprise only a limited number of units per property.

Illustrative Example: \$50,000 Incremental Subsidy Cost per ELI Unit. As detailed in the following table, using 2001 national average incomes and assuming a 30 percent housing cost burden, a two-person household at 30 percent AMI needs a \$387 per unit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See *Cityscape*, Volume 3, Number 2, especially the articles by Brophy and Smith, and Khadduri and Martin.

per month reduction in rent, below the amount that would be affordable to an otherwise similar household at 60 percent AMI. This corresponds to an additional subsidy of roughly \$50,000 per unit, over and above the subsidy necessary to produce affordability at 60 percent AMI.

The national median household income was \$62,300 in 2000. The metropolitan area of Denver (\$62,100) was closest to the national median. The following table shows the affordable housing costs (rent plus utilities) for Denver for 2001, and the reduction in supportable debt that would occur by making a unit affordable at 30 percent AMI instead of 60 percent AMI.

2001 Two person household income for At 60% AMI At 30% AMI	or Denver CO \$30,900 \$15,450	
Rent and Utilities affordable (30% cos At 60% AMI At 30% AMI	t burden) \$773 \$386	
Reduction in Gross Potential Rent Allowance for Vacancy Loss No Change in Operating Expenses No Change in Reserve Deposits No Change in Coverage	(\$4,644) 232 0 0 0	\$387 5%
Reduction in Debt Service	(\$4,412)	
Reduction in Supportable Debt 8% interest rate 30 year term	(\$50,107)	

This example assumes that the operating expenses and replacement reserve deposits would not change by virtue of the change in resident profile. This example also assumes that the dollar level of debt service coverage / operating margin / financial cushion would also remain the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> One might argue that the property management fee, typically expressed as a percentage of collected rents, would decline. However, it is clear that the property-management workload would be the same or larger. Thus, the property management fee should stay the same in dollars (higher in percentage terms).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This assumption is based on the observation that the level of financial volatility in the development is the same, even though, as a mixed income property, the net operating income is lower. Said differently, a sophisticated lender would likely require a higher debt service coverage ratio for the mixed-income property, so as to achieve the same dollar level of financial cushion despite the lower net operating income.

Per Unit, the ELI Subsidy Is Roughly the Same as the LIHTC Subsidy. The \$50,000 incremental subsidy needed to turn a 60 percent AMI unit into an ELI unit is roughly comparable to the LIHTC equity received by a typical new construction project:

Total Development Cost	\$80,000 per unit
LIHTC Eligible Basis Applicable Fraction	\$68,000 85% of TDC 100% of units are LIHTC
Qualified Basis Actual LIHTC percentage LIHTC period	\$68,000 8.75% published monthly 10 years
Gross credits Net syndication price	\$59,500 \$0.75 per dollar
Net equity proceeds	\$44,625 per unit

The amounts in the preceding table represent typical amounts, for new construction developments in moderate-cost areas.

As a rule of thumb, then, one ELI unit requires about twice as much subsidy as a 60 percent AMI unit. Said differently, by roughly doubling the investment required to produce affordability at 60 percent AMI, a sponsor could produce affordability at 30 percent AMI.

ELI Requires Large Subsidy per Unit, for a Small Number of Units. The following table illustrates the subsidy cost per unit and as a percentage of TDC, for a hypothetical mixed-income development, using the illustrative amounts from the previous tables.

	ELI Units	Non ELI Units	All Units
Number of Units	10	40	50
TDC per unit	\$80,000	\$80,000	\$80,000
TDC	\$800,000	\$3,200,000	\$4,000,000
LIHTC subsidy per unit	\$44,625	\$44,625	\$44,625
ELI subsidy per unit	\$50,107	\$0	\$10,021
Total subsidy per unit	\$94,732	\$44,625	\$54,646
Total subsidy	\$947,320	\$1,785,000	\$2,732,320
% of total development cost	118%	56%	68%

This table illustrates two important points about the subsidy cost of mixed-income developments:

- On a blended basis, the incremental subsidy needed to produce a mixed-income property is modest, compared to the LIHTC subsidy.
- However, the ELI units themselves will often require subsidy that is *greater* than their allocable share of total development cost. In other words, a typical ELI unit has a *negative* ability to support debt<sup>8</sup> and must be cross-subsidized by the non-ELI units in the property.

The \$40,000 per Unit ELI Subsidy Limit Proved Workable in the Grant Program. As noted in the executive summary, the grant applicants found ways to work within the \$40,000 per unit limit that Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation placed on the mixed income grants. Of course, this forced the applicants to select projects that already provided affordability below 60 percent AMI, thereby reducing the amount of rent reduction necessary to reach households at 30 percent AMI. The \$40,000 per unit limit most heavily impacted applicants in high rent / high cost areas. Accordingly, future programs would be well advised to build in flexibility in the maximum grant amount, taking into account the very wide local variations in rents and costs across the nation.

# 3. Mixed-Income Rental Housing Needs a Dedicated Funding Source and an Appropriate Allocation System

As noted above, the amount of LIHTC subsidy needed to produce a unit affordable at 60 percent AMI would need to be doubled, or more, to make that same unit affordable at 30 percent AMI. Because so many potential mixed-income developments already use the LIHTC, one approach for funding mixed-income properties is to expand the amount of funding in the LIHTC program. However, this would need to be coupled with a more sophisticated performance measurement approach, so that the increased credits would be used for creating ELI units, and not simply to produce additional units affordable at 60 percent AMI but not affordable to ELI households.

At the Chicago symposium, Neighborhood Reinvestment discussed this possibility with representatives of allocating agencies. In general, allocating agencies feel great pressure to produce the maximum number of units, and thus would need to devise complex new performance metrics in order to incorporate a second objective of facilitating mixed-income communities.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> That is, a negative net operating income.

It seems to be generally true that the level of capital subsidy necessary to produce ELI affordability is upwards of 80 percent of total development cost. Accordingly, all else equal, areas with high development costs will need higher per unit subsidies in order to achieve ELI affordability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This approach would also require changes to allow a higher amount of credits. One such approach is to allow a credit percentage higher than 9 percent. Another is to simply award the credits without regard to eligible basis. Under either approach, an allocating agency would award additional credits to mixed-income properties, over and above the amount that would be required for affordability at 50 percent to 60 percent AMI.

- It would be necessary to recognize the greater cost, and greater value, of creating units that are affordable to lower-income households. For example, the productivity of allocating agencies could be measured by "scoring" units produced according to the level of affordability provided.<sup>11</sup> Using this approach, one ELI unit would have the same "score" as two units that were affordable at 60 percent AMI.
- It would also be necessary to recognize the greater up-front cost (and lower ongoing cost) of producing sustainable properties that will not require further subsidies in future years. For example, the productivity of allocating agencies could reflect the extent to which properties funded in prior years are achieving their financial and non-financial performance objectives (e.g., positive cash flow and adequately funded reserves).

Although all felt it would be possible to develop such new performance measurement systems, there was a general sense that it might be best to keep the LIHTC program (which is working quite well) in its current form, and to use a separate subsidy mechanism to facilitate mixed-income development and preservation.

#### 4. There Are Many Approaches for Reaching People at or Below 30 Percent AMI

A list of potential approaches is attached (see page 15). This list was developed for the Chicago symposium. It is evident that any national strategy needs to be quite flexible, in order to permit this wide range of approaches.

In closing, Neighborhood Reinvestment has the following comments on particular approaches, based on results from the grant applications and from the Chicago Symposium:

- Debt Reduction. This approach is quite feasible and is relatively easy to calculate. Simply translate the needed rent reduction into a matching reduction in debt service costs, and re-size the first mortgage accordingly.
- Community Viability Over Time. Many of the grant applicants emphasized the need to strengthen management and the need to add non-housing services to ensure that the mixed-income community would thrive over the long term.
- The "Right Mix" Varies. In general, achieving a mixed-income neighborhood should be a primary criterion in determining the mix.
- "Thrifty Vouchers." Section 8 (project-based and tenant-based) is a highly useful approach for creating ELI units. If the proposed "thrifty voucher" program had been available, we believe many grant applicants would have pursued it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Neighborhood Reinvestment developed one such measurement for evaluating the mixed-income grant applications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Various legislative proposals have made the point that when Section 8 vouchers are used in properties that already have low rents, the voucher cost is quite low, hence the term "thrifty voucher." Neighborhood Reinvestment points out that combining debt reduction (thus, rent reduction) and Section 8 vouchers creates a powerful combination: units that are affordable long-term to households at, say, 40 percent to 50 percent AMI and also affordable short-term to ELI households who are Section 8 voucher recipients.

#### 5. Sustainability Is Vital

Inability of Grant Applicants to Achieve Sustainable Properties Using Traditional Subsidies. The grant applicants reported that key elements of sustainability were not acceptable to other programs that provided funds to the properties. In particular, the typical subsidy programs used by the grant applicants:

- Would not allow a prudently sized reserve for replacements deposit.
  - Instead, subsidy allocators relied on rules of thumb that are appropriate for market-rate apartments but that are not appropriate for affordable apartments. Because affordable properties lack the future cash flow (and refinancing) potential of market-rate apartments, affordable properties need much larger replacement reserve deposits.
  - The failure of allocators to recognize this simple truth and incorporate it into their funding plans means that most affordable rental housing will require additional federal funds in the relatively near future.
- Would not allow asset management fees that recognized the legitimate costs of being the owner.<sup>13</sup>
- In some cases, would not recognize the level of operating expenses that were actually needed to produce and sustain viable communities.
  - Many allocators cap allowable operating expenses at fixed levels that have the effect of requiring applicants either to propose operating expenses that they know to be unrealistically low, or to propose properties that will be inexpensive to operate whether or not such properties meet the needs of communities and low-income households.

In summary, the funding environment for affordable rental housing still prefers to produce more units now, with inadequate long-term viability. In the view of Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation, this approach is directly responsible for many failures of affordable rental housing. History has shown that the needed future subsidies do not arrive in time, thereby negatively impacting communities and residents. Moreover, there is strong evidence, documented elsewhere (particularly for the Millennial Housing Commission), that the traditional (non-sustainable) approach is also inferior as a purely financial strategy, because the "transaction costs" involved in future work-outs or bail-outs are so high relative to the more modest costs of funding properties adequately from the beginning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Some proposals were able to include some sort of asset management fee, but none were able to include an asset management fee meeting Neighborhood Reinvestment's guidelines: \$200 per unit per year, carried "above the line" in the underwriting (i.e., treated as an operating expense for purposes of loan and property underwriting), but payable "below the line" from operations (i.e., a performance-based fee, payable only if the property achieves financial and non-financial performance benchmarks).

## **Key Characteristics of Grant Applications**

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation Mixed Income Demonstration Grant Program Key Characteristics of Grant Applications

Applicant	Awarded?	Total # Units	Units At or Below 30% AMI	Units >30% to 60% AMI	Units Above 60% AMI	Total Devel. Cost per Unit	Grant Amount	Grant Amount per 30% Unit	State	Target Population
One	Yes	25	10	15	0	\$142,262	\$400,000	\$40,000	ОН	Families
Two	Yes	70	4	66	0	\$199,632	\$160,000	\$40,000	MA	Families
Three	Yes	65	12	46	7	\$213,694	\$430,000	\$35,833	MA	Special Needs
Four	Yes	60	15	44	1	\$242,974	\$460,000	\$30,667	MA	Families
Five	No	36	2	34	0	\$104,350	\$80,000	\$40,000	NY	Families
Six	Yes	30	5	24	1	\$113,976	\$160,000	\$40,000	NY	Families
Seven	Yes	24	3	18	3	\$94,656	\$120,000	\$40,000	WI	Families
Eight	Yes	36	6	30	0	\$144,857	\$240,000	\$40,000	IL	Families
Nine	Yes	70	4	30	36	\$152,795	\$160,000	\$40,000	CA	Families
Ten	No	14	3	4	7	\$75,431	\$75,000	\$25,000	OR	Families
Eleven	Yes	420	9	308	103	\$47,962	\$350,000	\$38,889	AZ	Families
Twelve	Yes	156	8	148	0	\$110,974	\$320,000	\$40,000	CO	Families
Thirteen	No	30	12	18	0	\$141,578	\$480,000	\$40,000	CO	Families
Fourteen	Yes	200	10	190	0	\$78,748	\$400,000	\$40,000	TX	Elderly
Fifteen	Yes	50	10	40	0	\$97,537	\$350,000	\$35,000	NC	Families
Sixteen	Yes	40	20	20	0	\$80,570	\$600,000	\$30,000	NC	Families
Seventeen	Yes	74	5	69	0	\$162,200	\$200,000	\$40,000	VA	Elderly
Applied	17	1400 100%	138 10%	1084 77%	178 13%	\$98,547	\$4,985,000	\$36,123		
Awarded	14	1320 100%	121 9%	1048 79%	151 11%	\$97,656	\$4,350,000	\$35,950		

# Excerpt from Framing Paper for April 2002 Chicago Symposium on Mixed-Income Communities

**Approaches.** A number of approaches hold out the potential for reaching households at or below 30 percent AMI. Some approaches minimize the rents required to make the property feasible. Others directly subsidize the lower-income households.

- Acquisition of Low-Value (Regulated or Unregulated) Affordable Apartments. Ability to serve a mixed-income clientele is supported by the low acquisition cost, which in turn requires low amounts of debt, making the property feasible at relatively low rents.
- Subsidized Acquisition and Light Rehab. Mixed income is supported by moderate acquisition cost plus capital grants (LIHTC, LIHTC plus HOME, etc.). This approach also involves low debt service costs, making the property feasible at relatively low rents.
- Subsidized New Construction / Substantial Rehab. Mixed income is supported by capital grants. This approach requires a larger amount of capital grant per unit to achieve the same level of affordability as the previous approach.
- Section 8 Vouchers (Project Based, "First Use," or Tenant Based). Mixed income is supported by vouchers, plus (perhaps) capital grants to get rents down to the level reachable by vouchers. All units will rent at or modestly below market rents, and the units with vouchers will be occupied by extremely-low-income households who pay an affordable amount for rent and utilities (with the voucher paying the rest). Using a partial (Section 8) "split subsidy" approach seems particularly promising for achieving and sustaining a mixed-income profile, as it avoids the potential for over-concentration of extremely low-income households while maintaining excellent affordability to ELI households.
  - Project-Based Vouchers. One approach is to tie the vouchers to the ELI units.
  - "First Use" Vouchers. Another approach is to allocate a voucher to each unit, on the condition that the household move into the unit after completion of construction or rehab. Afterwards, households may relocate and keep the voucher.
  - Tenant-Based Vouchers. Under this approach, the owner would work with the PHA, with an objective of housing some number of voucher holders who choose to live there.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The term "split subsidy" indicates that some units may have capital subsidies (e.g., LIHTC) while those same units (or others) may have rental assistance (e.g., Section 8).

- **Internal Cross Subsidy.** A portion of the rents from high-income households can be used to reduce rents on low-income units.
- Mixed-Income Retrofit of Market Properties. A strategy rather than an approach (various mixed-income approaches could be applied to such a property), this starts with a market-rate property and introduces a mixedincome component.
- **Mixed-Income Retrofit of Concentrated-Poverty Properties.** The counterpart to the previous strategy is to introduce a higher-income / close-to-market-rent component into a formerly concentrated-poverty property. Many HOPE VI redevelopments follow this paradigm. <sup>15</sup>
- Scattered Sites. By scattering small properties, reserved for and occupied by ELI households, in otherwise non-poverty neighborhoods, a mixed-income profile can be achieved at the neighborhood level even though the properties themselves may be 100 percent ELI. There is a strong track record of success in rural areas in particular, with scattered duplexes and single-family rentals. This could include a mix of rental and homeownership units.
- Mixed Buildings. ELI buildings could be alternated with market-rent buildings within the same property. There is some evidence, however, that this approach is likely to lead to the ELI buildings being stigmatized. This approach also more or less commits the property to a particular mix that may or may not be appropriate in the future. Property management professionals express concern that LIHTC rules drive many partial-LIHTC properties into this approach. Thus, this approach, although feasible in theory, is disfavored by practitioners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> HOPE VI has been less successful in preserving the total number of ELI housing opportunities. Often, a HOPE VI development produces fewer total units than were demolished, with only a portion of the replacement units being targeted for ELI households. Supporters of HOPE VI argue that the value of removing a failed property and creating a successful one outweighs the loss of ELI housing opportunities. Also, typically many of the pre-HOPE VI units were vacant, so that the actual loss of ELI opportunities is not as large as it may appear.

## **NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> Multifamily Initiative**

Launched in 1999, the NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> Multifamily Initiative is the collaborative portfolio management program for NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> organizations whose primary mission is development, ownership, or management of affordable rental housing. Currently, 68 NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> organizations, operating in 29 states, belong to the Multifamily Initiative. Together, they own or manage more than 34,000 affordable housing units.

The goals of the Multifamily Initiative are to:

- Develop or preserve 15,000 units between 2004 and 2008.
- Attract \$1 billion in investment in these affordable properties,
- Support portfolio performance and asset management systems of members so that 90 percent of portfolios are positively performing,
- Serve 15,000 residents with asset building services through learning centers, and
- Increase multifamily resident leadership so that 3,500 residents serve in leadership on properties or communities.

The Multifamily Initiative has created the Neighborhood Capital Corporation (NCC) as an additional source of risk capital. NCC provides predevelopment loans and interim acquisition loans, which can be subordinated to conventional mortgage debt. Initially capitalized by Neighborhood Reinvestment, the NCC now is building its capital base through both direct investment and agreements with lenders who would like to participate in this type of lending.

#### **Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation**

The Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation of Washington, D.C., is a public nonprofit organization established by Congress in 1978 to revitalize urban, suburban and rural neighborhoods nationwide. The Corporation carries out its mission by mobilizing public, private and community resources at the neighborhood level and expanding affordable housing opportunities for lower-income households through the NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> network. The network consists of more than 225 nonprofit, community-development organizations serving more than 2,500 communities throughout America. In the past five years, NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> organizations have generated more than \$7.2 billion in reinvestment and helped more than 160,000 families of modest means to purchase or improve their homes or secure safe, decent rental housing or mutual housing. Further information on Neighborhood Reinvestment and the NeighborWorks<sup>®</sup> network is available at www.nw.org.

Early Conclusions from the Mixed-Income Demonstration Program *August 2002* 

© 2004 Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation

Neighborhood Reinvestment Corporation 1325 G St. N.W. #800 Washington, DC 20005 202-220-2300 www.nw.org